Insurance is of course a form of gambling, with the odds carefully calculated so that the house always wins since the insurance companies always make a profit no matter how much they pay out during the year. If we could read the future and discover when we were going to die or when our homes might burn down the insurance companies would be out of business within a day. Another thing that might cause the companies trouble would be a safety-prone, a man who would be the opposite of an accident-prone, an individual who never got into trouble. With realistic appraisal Mr. Scott examines just this interesting problem.





Robin S. Scott WHO NEEDS INSURANCE?



I've always been a pretty lucky guy. I don't mean at cards or even before Marty with women. Just lucky in the sense that my ration of ill fortune has always been slight. All my life  I  seem  to  have  walked  dry  through  the  shower  of vicissitude which seems to be the normal human lot. I never broke a bone as a kid or had more than the usual run of childhood diseases. I never piled up a car, or had appendicitis, or suffered food poisoning, or got cleated by that vicious fullback who played for Carroisville before they threw him out in 1941, the year I graduated from Mumford Junction.

And because there are lots of others I've known who seemed lucky in this way, I never suspected my luck was any different more than just plain "luck” even after the Ploesti raid. It wasn't until Vietnam that I became convinced that my luck was really out of the ordinary, and even then I didn't really understand it. I never would have known what it really amounted to if it weren't for Marty. But I'm getting ahead of myself.

Ploesti was a simple enough thing. That I survived the raid was good luck indeed, but not unusual good luck. Lots of others survived, too. The unusual part was the way I survived.

I was copilot of a pretty rickety B-24 attached to the 389th Bomber Group, which, we discovered later, had somehow slipped through its last maintenance check without being checked. Anyway, we'd come in from the southwest, over the rolling foothills of the Transylvanian Alps, made our bomb-run on "White One" without taking many hits, and slid weaving out through smokestacks of the refineries at about sixty feet. We were just beginning to congratulate ourselves on getting through what was obviously one of the hairiest raids of the war. I had just turned a little in my seat to see if George wanted me to take it when an 88 mm shell popped in through the nose canopy, through the bombardier, and ex-ploded somewhere above and behind us, knocking out both inboard engines.

Funny how suddenly aware you can be at a time like that.  My whole life did not pass before my eyes; I was much too busy watching the curious, almost slow-motion effect of eight pounds of high-explosive and fine German steel. There was light, of course, like a hundred flashbulbs going off at once, and there was heat and blast. George simply disappeared. So did his yoke and several feet of fuselage. The nose canopy was gone and the sudden drag and the blast threw me forward against my yoke. I grabbed it, surprised that I could still grab, and looked to see if I had any feet left. All I could see was gore, but it wasn't mine. It was the bombardier's. He was a young kid, a year younger than my ancient twenty, and I can't even remember his name.

My being thrown against the yoke nosed us down enough so that we didn't stall out then and there, and I was able to get us a little flying speed before we ran out of air and joined the Rumanian underground. I went to full power on Number One and Number Four and we got on out of there. Major Bricks, the Squadron Intelligence Officer, was riding observer and doubling at one of the waist guns. He stuck his head in through the hatch, took one look at the mess, and went back to the waist, praying as he told me lateral the way.

So that was the first miracle of the Ploesti trip-that I had survived that 88. When we got back to base at Benghazi, no one could believe what they saw in the cockpit of the Goldbrick. One half the pilot’s completely torn apart; the other-mine-almost untouched.

But it wasn't all that easy getting back to Benghazi, and that's the second miracle real unusual stroke of luck if you will of my visit to Ploesti, the oil capital of Rumania. We'd clawed our way on two engines up to thirty-five hundred feet, and I was beginning to breathe easier when whacko! Oil pressure on Number Four dropped to zilch in about ten seconds. I could see the black gold streaming out through the cooler flaps. I pulled off power and feathered, and we were lucky again: no fire. But that is usual luck, although very good luck indeed. What was unusual was this: a B-24 can, if you are very lucky and not heavily loaded, maintain altitude on one engine. But not with most of the front end of the airplane missing. No sir. It ruins the streamlining, and as they used to kid us at Randolph Field, "that which draggeth, falleth." So I fiddled along without much real hope, trying to coax the maximum thrust out of that poor, tortured Number One engine, and calculating how far we had to go in order to jump into that part of Yugoslavia controlled by Tito.

I boosted the mixture to rich and increased pitch slowly, trying to keep manifold pressure somewhere in the neighborhood of the red line. And then I discovered it. / could pull the propeller to full high pitch and the RPM's didn't drop! The prop was roaring like an insane lion and chewing great chunks of air with each revolution, but it didn't slow. It took all my strength with both feet on the left rudder pedal to keep us from crabbing around into a flat turn. I figured out later that strange engine had an effective power boost equivalent to an extra eight hundred horsepower, and that in a twelve hundred horsepower engine! Right then, though, twenty-five hundred feet over Yugoslavia, I didn't do any figuring. I was just too shook to be anything but properly grateful.

So we went bucketing and yawing down across the Balkans, down through the Ionian Sea and across the Mediterranean to Libya. I was into the slot for an upwind approach when both outboard engines went bang, and I mean exploded. I could understand Number One going. It had roared long enough and K&d earned the honor of a decent burial. But old Number Four had been loafing on full feather and hadn't turned a lick for almost five hours. Anyway, both went bang, Number One deserting us entirely, whistling down to bury itself in the sand off the end of the Four-Five runway, while Number Four burned merrily in its cowling, although with no oil and only a carburetor full of gas, without much real malice.

Despite everything, it was a satisfactory landing, and like  the rest of the slobs who had visited sunny Rumania that day,

I was too thankful to be back in one piece to speculate much about the nature of my good luck. It wasn't until a couple of days later, after a very alcoholic evening in Major Bricks' tent, that I began to get really curious about that Number One engine and its evident ability to do full RPM's at full high pitch.

I can't stand being curious. It's like an itch, a painful irritation somewhere deep inside, and I have to scratch. I went to see Mcdougal, the Chief of Maintenance for the 389th. Like me, Mcdougal had been pulled into the Army Air Corps from college. But, while I had put in only two years at Indiana, Mac was doing graduate work in Fluid Mechanics when he was offered a choice between civilian work on some highly classified project in a little Tennessee town named Oak Ridge or a direct commission in the Air Corps. Mac is a little unconventional and a little nuts, and he thought he'd have a better time in the war if he could smell gunpowder. He was the sort of Maintenance Chief who used to sneak rides as gunner, radioman, flight engineer, what-have-you. He could even fly passably well.

It was after ten in the evening when I caught up with Mac.  The desert heat had been sucked off into a series of towering thunderheads which instead of shedding their favors on Lib-yan soil wou'd undoubtedly move out into the Mediterran-.ean and kick hell out of some poor Greek SPOPTO fishermen.  It was cool even inside the silver corrugations of the R & M hangar, and Mac was relaxing with one of those thin little books on mathematics which have no numbers in them, just alphabets, and which cost about twelve dollars a running inch.  I went to see Mac because I had to scratch my curiosity itch, and because besides being a first-rate technical mind, Mac had been a friend since we had been boys together in Mumford Junction.

Mac offered me a beer from the avgas compressed air beer cooler in the corner of his office and set me at ease with the back-home southern Indiana drawl he affected. I'd lost mine at Bloomington, in college. MIT and the sophistication of Boston had intensified Mac's,

"How's it goin'. Ace," he drawled. Mac called everybody "Ace." Everybody he liked, that is.

"Like a hawg with both feet in the trough," I answered, slipping back into Mumford Junction to make Mac feel good.

Mac took a long pull on his beer. "Just about creamed yourself on that Ploesti party, didn't you?" He looked out from under his bushy red eyebrows and down his long arched nose at me, and his eyes twinkled. "I'm glad you made it, Ace."

"Thanks, Mac." His pleasure was sincere, and I was touched. "Have you seen what's left of the Goldbrick?"

"Yeah, I seen it, and I seen better lookin' junk spreadin' fertilizer on your old man's back forty. You could just as well have left it for the Krauts in Ploesti. I ain't gonna be able to fix it up none."

"D'you check it out before you scrapped it? Go over the engines or anything?"

"What I wanna do that for? I had a crew pull out what we could use for spares and then tow the carcass over to the boneyard. Anyway," he exclaimed, sitting up from his mori-bund slouch, "one of them engines is all burned up, two is shot to pieces, and I believe you buried the other with full military honors out there off'n the end of Four-Five runway."

I explained about flying all the way home from Rumania on one engine and about the extra eight hundred horsepower.  This really sat him up. He uncurled his six-foot-four and went over to the beer cooler, eyeing me all the time. He knew me too well, however, to go into the "you must be nuts."

"Full RPM at full high pitch, eh?" he muttered as he opened a can for himself and one for me. His can opener was a tool steel die set into an unpowered drill press.

I didn't answer his mutter. He paced a moment, the foam from his beer can dripping to the concrete floor, and then:

"Come on. Ace. Let's go dig that baby up,"

He called for a crash truck, and beckoning to the duty crew chief, he swung behind the wheel and we sped off through the cool desert night, bumping over the low dunes at the end of Four-Five. Even with the blackout lights, it didn't take long to find the crater. There'd been plenty of oil pressure m that engine when it blew loose from the Goldbrick, which meant the reservoir in the oil cooler had been pretty full, and the sand around the crater looked like the backyard of a filling station.

We cleared sand away from the corpse with shovels, and then while the crew chief was loading up with the crash truck's A-frame, Mac and I walked around like a couple of white wings, picking up the bits and pieces. When we had pretty well policed up the area, we ploughed back to the R & M hangar, unloaded our booty on the oil-stained concrete floor, and Mac went to work. I had a beer and went to bed. I had to fly the next day.

It was a milk run, the courier flight to Gibraltar; likewise the day after that. Then another hairy one came along, this time up in Sicily, but the Group had to stand down two days in a row because of bad weather over the target area. When the weather finally broke, my plane had to abort when we couldn't get a decent magneto check. I taxied back to the hangar, sore at the world. I didn't like aborts. A runner met me as I swung down through the hatch. "Lieutenant Albers, sir. Lieutenant Mcdougal says he would like to see you at your convenience." I acknowledged the message and shuffled over to the R & M shop, still sore at those magnetos.

Major Ericks was sitting in Mac's tiny office, his feet up on the beer cooler, a white moustache of foam on his upper lip.

The cooler, carefully vented to allow the evaporating gasoline to escape safely, kept the small office a few degrees cooler than the sweltering hangar which surrounded it. Major Ericks is a fat little  bird with  sleepy eyes,  and  he was  obviously enjoying the coolness of the beer and the office. He is a deceptive man with those eyes. He looks like a retarded Santa Claus, but I saw him fracture a Berber's skull with the side of . his hand one time in a barroom brawl in Tripoli. He talks like a college professor, which is not surprising since that is what he was before the Great Unpleasantness as he called it broke out in 1941.

"Peter!" he exclaimed when I walked in. "I've not had a chance to properly thank you for your magnificent perform-ance last Sunday. You had me praying, and the unaccus-tomed exercise did my fat soul good."

I grinned and accepted the beer from Mac. "It must have been the prayers that did it, Major. By all rights we ought to be walking across Transylvania at this moment, dodging Germans and werewolves."

The major chuckled. "I hadn't thought of it, Pete, but I suppose you've a point. Perhaps we should include a silver spike in the escape and evasion kit for Ploesti-bound fliers."

Mac, who never read a book unless it was one of those twelve dollars a running-inch types, looked mystified and turned the conversation to business. He is an inarticulate man, and when he has to address more than one man at a time, he gets a little nervous.

"Major, I asked you an' Ace here to come over on account of I got a problem I can't handle and maybe you can gimme an idea." He stopped abruptly, not sure where to begin.

"Is it the business with the Number One engine from Goldbrick?" I asked.

"Yeah," said Mac, and I explained the problem to the major.

"Ah tore it down," continued Mac, "and there wasn't a thing unusual about her. She was a fine, healthy engine before she blew, but I couldn't figure out for the longest time where she was gettin' all that extra power. Then I found this." Mac pulled a wheeled dolly over to the two of us. On it was a square box, about ten inches on a side and maybe five inches thick. Its surface was featureless except for a series of bolt holes along a flange on one end and a helical gear extending from a short shaft on the other. "This was bolted in and geared to the flywheel, and it don't belong there."

"Doesn't belong?"  queried  the  major.  "What do you mean?"

"Look, Major," said Mac, "we get maybe six... seven modifications a month in these here airplanes. Maybe two a month in the engines. Every one of these mods go through me. I'd know for sure if we was to install little boxes like this geared to the flywheel." Mac's voice carried an injured tone, almost as if his honor had been slurred. "And more'n that, Major, it don't do nothin', this little box. It don't take power in and it don't put power out, least not so's you can tell."

We were silent for a minute. Then I said: "Why don't you open her up, Mac, and see what's inside. Maybe you can figure out what it's for when you see the guts."

Mac gave me a pitying look. "You think I ain't tried? I've tried everything but a cuttin' torch on her, and no luck."

The major peered at the box intently. "Get your torch, Mac. Let's see what's inside."

Mac left wordlessly and returned a moment later with two gas bottles on a cart. He pulled goggles down over his eyes, lit the gas with a pop, and adjusted the valves until he had a good flame. I watched the box as he heated one end with the flame.  The term "black box" had not yet come into currency, and this utterly mysterious, completely unknowable box was not black at all. I watched as its gray-green exterior began to glow cherry red, watched as Mac thumbed the oxygen valve for a cutting flame. I watched as the entire box suddenly turned to grayish powder and melted and formed a hard little ball and danced and sizzled on the steel top of the dolly. And I saw Mac cut off the gas and push his goggles slowly up onto his forehead, and I saw Major Ericks sigh and look at me with a strange glint in his eyes, and I began to suspect then that I had had unusual luck at Ploesti more than the sort of extra-special good luck that almost everyone experiences now and again.

So we had a mystery on our hands. Major Ericks, Mac, and 1. But we didn't particularly relate the mystery to me. Lieu-tenant Peter Albers. Having had my very personal bacon saved by the mystery led me to relate it to myself to wonder "why me? why my airplane?” and maybe Major Ericks was feeling the same way about himself. But as a group, sitting around as we did for weeks afterwards, drinking beer in Mac's cool little office and speculating about the golfball-sized chunk of glassy slag that sat on Mac's desk, we didn't relate the mystery to me. And after a while we began to forget about it and talk of other things. We were all pretty close by then. Bill Ericks had flown with me a good deal, explaining in his offhand way that he wanted to share what he called my "flair for Providence." And he and Mac came to respect each other in the abstruse world of mathematics. Mac even began to call him "Ace."

And we stuck together this way, sitting in one R & M hangar after another, talking politics and girls and airplanes and girls and the world series and girls, until the war was over. After Ploesti a lot of little things conspired to keep me in good shape. I flew plenty, but it seemed like there was always a shot magneto, or a leaky hydraulic line or a cracked de-icing boot that kept me on the ground when the bad ones came along. It was only much later that I saw how these many tiny things added up to be a bit more, in aggregate, than ordinary circumstance. Like shooting seventeen straight passes or drawing to an inside straight two or three times consecutively.

After the war, we drifted apart, despite our protestations to the contrary. Bill Ericks got an Associate Professorship at some eastern college, married a girl from Smith, and wound up finally as a wheel in one of those Government outfits which are too secret even to have alphabetical names. We exchanged Christmas cards for a while, and I ran into him once in 1955 coming out of the Dorchester in New York.  Mac went back to MIT to finish his degree, married a girl from back home in Mumford Junction, and took her out to California with him in '52 when he went to work for one of the big R & D outfits out there that were springing up like weeds on the rich diet of Federal money following the outbreak of the Korean War. Mac never wrote, but his parents lived on in Mumford Junction, as did mine, and I followed his travels through them.

As for me? I finished up at Bloomington with an MS in Aeronautical Engineering in 1949 and went to work for one of the big airframe manufacturers in Kansas. After a year on the board copying other men's ideas, I was glad to be rescued by the Korean War. I was retreaded as a captain and learned to fly A-26s, but the same combination of hydraulic lines, fouled-up radio gear, and erratic magnetos speaking meta-phorically kept me out of serious action, and I flew two combat tours without a scratch. I left Korea as Major Peter Albers, the "lucky Pierre" of the 2731st Recon Squadron, and after two wars and over four thousand hours of flight time, I figured I'd just as well stay in the Air Force and make it a career.

My luck as I explained before didn’t extend to the realm of women: A. I hadn't met many girls who were prepared to put up with a rather tired-looking caricature of Lindbergh with a rapidly-receding hairline and too much length to stuff into a standard bed. And B, the ones I had met who were willing to accept the material described in A.  (above) seemed to consider marriage a kind of Inertial Navi-gation System with which they could accurately plot my course for all the years to come. And if there is one thing about me, it is that I like to at least pretend that I am the Captain of My Own Soul and the Master of My Own Fate (to paraphrase Henley).

You might think it strange that lucky Pierre Albers, by his own admission an independent sort of bird, would choose a military career, with all its traditional restraints. Well, I suppose it's the same in Big Business and Big Government, and even Big Labor: you learn the ground rules, the taboos and the angles, and then if you can produce you're left pretty much to yourself. I knew the rules in the Air Force I’d had (by 1953, when I finally decided to make a career of it) seven years of practical experience, and I figured I could have a fairly satisfactory life, doing what I most enjoyed, with a minimum of interference from outside sources. And I had my luck. By this time I had come to count on it. Not that I got sloppy in my flying or anything; I just always knew it was there. And this made what is otherwise a career hard to insure not many people realize that most military pilots in those days had to pay as much as fifty per cent more for insurance even more attractive. All that flight pay and nothing to lose.

So the years rolled by. I was often lonely, all bachelors despite their claims to the contrary are. And sometimes, in lonely moments on a long flight at very high altitude or in the middle of the night in the BOQ, I'd think about the Ploesti raid and about that gray-green "black box." But this was mostly middle-of-the-night stuff, and I had long since given up bringing up the story in bull sessions. Too damaging to the reputation, and pointless anyway.

I rolled along, piling up safe hours in all types of aircraft.  In 1955 I was promoted to light Colonel and shifted to flight test duties the degree in Engineering did it and I rolled and twisted hundreds without incident. In 1961 I got my eagles, and in mid '63 I was given command of a helicopter squadron in Vietnam. And then, a few weeks before I was due to be relieved in the Spring of '64, I found out some more about my unusual luck, my "chicken sandwich" luck: Mac used to say in Libya, way back when, that with luck like mine, I could reach into an Arab privy and come up with a chicken sandwich.

We were working our way up the Mekong River in H-34s Choctaws, the Army called them dropping supplies here and there in friendly villages, setting down to drop off squads of replacements, and generally doing our bit to hold together the whirly-bird lifeline of the miserable Vietnamese war. I had been loaned to the Army because I had worked with H-34s a good deal and the Army was rapidly growing short of trained chopper jockeys on the command level. I'd been actually leading 'the squadron in combat for nearly a year, and had I not been so convinced of my own invincible good luck, I'd have realized I'd just about outlived the statistical odds for survival in that unhappy part of the world.

On this day in particular, the great muddy Mekong lay spread out some five hundred feet beneath us, swollen and fat from the spring rains. There were spots of early morning mist obscuring the banks and the horizon was a purple band of dampness no more than two miles away. The Viet Cong held a strong point on the west side of the river and they had developed a new trick. They would anchor a small boat or a raft out in the middle of the river and zero in on it with their little dinky 3" mortars. Then, knowing we used the river to navigate by when we were flying resupply, they calculated a series of trajectories for various altitudes, and when we came flying by, they would fill the air with big, lazy mortar shells with timed fuses.

Well, we caught one. And it was Ploesti all over again. No gore this time, although the crew chief back in the cargo compartment had a pretty lively fire on his hands for a few minutes. Otherwise the damage was slight. The rotor blades were nicked and vibrated like hell; there was rice and "C" rations plastered all over the interior of the cargo compart-ment; and there was a hole about the size of the southerly tip of Florida in the main fuel tank. I got us stable again and headed back to base, pulling off power to conserve gas. The main tank was soon empty without fire, thank my usual, everyday, run-of-the-mill luck and I started nursing throttle and mixture control to stretch the two reserve tanks for the two-hundred mile flight back to base.

By all rights and the laws of aerodynamics we should never have made it. But I found I could throttle way down and still keep a steady thirty-five knots and full stability, and as we flew along, the engines barely turning over, I began to realize that my unusual, more-than-run-of-the-mill luck had taken hold. And sure enough, some five hours later when we began to windmill in over the base, there was a loud report, as if someone had dropped a grenade into the engine, and we came flopping like a wounded bird into a safe but destructive no-power landing.

We all walked away from it, and after debriefing the other members of the squadron and reporting in to Operations, I borrowed a tool kit from one of the mechs and headed for the boneyard where they had towed the remains of the Choctaw. I had a good idea what to look for and where to look for it, and it took only a few minutes with a flashlight and a set of sockets to get the gray-green box loose from its mounting next to the flywheel.

Twenty years is a long time, but that strange box, identical with the one I had seen in Benghazi, except for the cut of the teeth on the spur gear, brought back my memory with detailed precision. I sat and stared at it where it lay on my bed in the BOQ, and then I stuffed it into the bottom of my foot locker while I thought the whole thing over.

A month later, in June 1963, I rotated out of Vietnam with reassignment to the Air Force War College at Maxwell AFB in Montgomery. For a professional warrior, such an assign-ment is to be treasured: it is one of the most essential elements in the construction of a general officer, and to have made it at forty-one and not as an Academy graduate made me feel doubly-blessed. As a consequence, I rapidly lost interest in the mystery posed by the gray-green "blackbox." It knocked around with me in the bottom of my foot locker on the trip from Saigon to Washington and then on to Mumford Junction. I thought about it occasionally, and I couldn't help but be intrigued by the long recurrent thought, "Why me?" During my six weeks leave in Indiana, there were too many other things to do and to talk about, too many sea stories to swap with old friends, and too much to do helping Dad with the farm and enjoying the simplicity of a midwestem summer to fret about what was obviously to me, then unknowable.  . After a while, just before I left for Montgomery, I packed the strange device carefully in a crate, determined Mac's address from his mother, and shipped it off to him with a brief letter describing the circumstances under which I had found it.

By the end of October I had been at the War College a couple of months and was doing well. Thus it came as a bolt from the blue when I received sudden orders detaching me from the War College and instructing me to report to the Pentagon, room such-and-such. Colonel so-and-so. Colonel so-and-so wasn't much help in clearing up the mystery.

Instead he handed me the address of an apartment house over in the District and told me to report back to his office once a month to get paid. Otherwise, he wasn't interested in seeing me anymore. I was sore; I didn't welcome missing out on the opportunity presented by the War College, and I didn't like the Mickey Mouse mystery I was being handed. But Colonel so-and-so accepted my indignation with bland indifference, and if you've ever seen two colonels trying to pull rank on each other, you can imagine how comical the scene in room such-and-such was.

As I said, I had been in the Air Force long enough to recognize the fact that there are times when You Can't Fight City Hall, and just then. Colonel so-and-so represented City Hall. There were the initials of the Undersecretary of the Air Force on my orders to prove it. So I swallowed my anger, hailed a cab, and went to the address on Connecticut Avenue I'd been given. It can be hot in Washington in October, and the air-conditioning in the Grover Apartments did nothing to cool me off. Suite 8334 was high in the building and I had to wait a long time for the elevator. But my frustration and anger died in puzzlement when the door was opened to my impatient buzz by none other than friend Mcdougal, older, his face wrinkling, his red hair salted with white, but indubitably Mac.

-  "Howdy, Ace," he grinned. "Ah hope you ain't too put out at bein' drug up here like this."

Before I could answer, my surprise was compounded by the appearance of Bill Ericks, feet up on the suite's expensive upholstery, a can of cold beer in his hand. Suddenly twenty years dropped off me. The jumbled events of the past few hours shifted into neat rows, all in perfect alignment, and I knew what it was all about. I shook Bricks' hand and took the proffered beer from Mac. "What is this, Libyan Reunion Week?" I said, as if I didn't know better.

Ericks chuckled. "Better call it the organization meeting of the Pete Albers Little Green Box and Marching Society." He turned to the entryway leading to the rest of the suite and called: "Marty, our rabbit's foot is here!"

"Marty" came in and we were introduced. If you have ever noticed, it is exceedingly difficult to form a clear mental picture of someone you love, but I can remember with photographic clarity how Marty looked then, in that instant, standing in the doorway. She is a small woman, and she looked even more diminutive standing next to Mac's six feet four. Her auburn hair was done up in a severe knot which somehow did nothing to detract from her complete feminin-ity:  a small heart-shaped  face,  shining green eyes set wide apart under heavy, almost masculine brows, full lips and a straight nose, a bit too long for perfection perhaps. Altogether a thoroughly beautiful woman, but a woman whose expres-sionand subsequent words made you realize that she was used to dealing with men on a level of equality, without being militant about it-a woman whose abilities were such that she had no need to use her obvious good looks and lithe young figure to make her way in a man's world.

Unlike Mac, I am not an inarticulate man. But I stuttered as I acknowledged the introduction. When I could tear my eyes away, I turned questioningly to Ericks to ask him what was up.

He anticipated my question. "Martha Perkins is a Chief Programmer at the Aerospace Center, and probably the best programmer in the general field of variant probability in the country. She's part of the 'green box' team~-,,

"The what?" I said.      ."---:.~.

"Sit down, Pete," said Ericks. "Let me fill you in."

So I sat down, and Erick with an occasional assist from Mac or Marty filled me in. It seems that when my parcel from Mumford Junction got to Mac, he was so excited he couldn't see straight. He'd felt for twenty years that he'd muffed a good chance back in Libya, and it was like having an opportunity to undo a bad error. He set to work imme-diately on the box, and since he was Chief of Research and Development for his firm, he got all the help and equipment he needed. There was no nonsense with a cutting torch this time. They didn't even risk X-raying the box for fear of .setting off the reaction which had destroyed the first one.  Instead they did a careful closed-systems check, looking for any sign of input or output, anywhere in the electromagnetic spectrum. They found nothing. Then they bolted the box to an H-14 engine on a test stand with the spur gear meshing with the flywheel, just as it had in Vietnam No results. They ran the engine up to full power and dropped it back to idle with no discernible effect from the green box, except for the obvious fact that the spur was being driven at a merry clip by the flywheel.

Mac had just about decided that the box was a one-shot affair and that it had had its one shot when he thought of one other test condition. He had the engine trundled into a pres-sure chamber, evacuated the air to a simulated altitude of a thousand feet and tried the full-power run-up again. This time it took. When he cut the throttle back, engine speed dropped off to a little more than 3,000 RPM and would drop no lower, even under a heavy dynamometer load. Only when the air came whistling back into the chamber, approximating sea-lev-el pressure, did the engine speed drop off to the comfortable idle indicated by the power settings.

"So that was it," continued Ericks. "Mac still didn't know what he had, but he knew what it took to make it perform, and it was enough for him to call for more help."

"Ah figured it was no job for a country boy like me," chipped in Mac, "so I got on the phone to old Ace here and he come out to Bakersfield on the next plane. Since then I ain't seen my wife an' kids for more'n about two days, an' we been more hush-hush than a moonshine cooker."

"And what that amounts to," added Ericks, "is that we're a project now. Our own funds and our own mission."

"We?" I asked, getting a little of my earlier anger back.

"We," said Ericks emphatically. "Me and Mac and Marty

and you."

"Now just a minute," I said. "I'm a military officer, not a scientist. Anyway, I've got plans of my own."

Ericks gave me a queer look. "I'm sorry Pete. I know about the War College. But look . . ."

"But look hell!" I said, my anger really showing for the first time. "You've known me long enough to know I won't hold still to be pushed around  by you two  slide-rulers and  Miss Variant Probability of 1965 over here!" The minute I'd said it I was sorry. "I'm sorry. Miss Perkins, 1... uh..." Marty was wearing one of those white lab coats, but it did little to conceal her striking figure. And those green eyes looked genuinely sympathetic, and kind of smoldering, and let’s face it sexy.

Marty opened her mouth for the first time in a long while.

"I know how you must feel. Colonel Albers, and you must hear us out. Hear the rest of the story." She looked at Ericks, and he nodded slightly. "I came into the picture when it was decided to approach the problem of the green box, from a causal and motivational point of view."

I looked blank, which was better than the leer I was about to display.

"All that means is that we couldn't find out how the box did what it did, so we decided to try to find out why it did what it did. That is, why the box was installed in two aircraft piloted by you, who installed the boxes, what his motives were for doing so, and so forth. You see, causality and motiva-tion."

"I see," I said. "You can't figure out what's in this Chinese puzzle, so you're hunting for the Chinaman who put it together in the first place so you can ask him."

"Precisely," said Ericks. "And that's where Marty came in.

Marty and her pet 2703 computer."

I'm not entirely stupid and I began to see where the explanation was leading. My anger drained away in front of those brilliant green eyes, and I smiled at the idea of Marty having a 2703 as a pet.

"Beauty and the beast, eh?" I said gallantly.

The green eyes twinkled at me. "Oh, I wouldn't call my 2703 exactly beautiful," she said. "Anyway, Colonel Albers, that's where I came in. me and my pet. It was clear from the very modest information we had about the circumstantial existence of the box apart from its physical nature that you were an essential element. But statistically, so were B-24s and H34s. We ran every scrap of information about the two aircraft, and about you, into the 2703. We poured most of the records of the units to which you were attached during both occurrences into the tank, and then we added what physical information about the green box we had. Then we took the personal records for all individuals who had had access to the two aircraft,  from factory to scrap heap. and fed them to my pet. and for dessert, we sent field investigators to 'your home town  to your former commanding officer, to everyone we could find who had ever known you well, and we poured a pretty  full  biography of Colonel Peter Canfield Albers down the 2703's gullet. Then we started asking ques-tions."

"And?" I asked. my voice unpleasant. My mother had written about investigators but l had assumed it was a security check in connection with my assignment to the War College. I didn't like the idea of strangers poking around in my life like this.

"And," said Ericks, "we got a few answers. Just enough to tantalize. We know why you are known throughout the Air Force as 'Lucky Pierre' Albers. You've flown for eighty-five hundred hours, a lot of it in combat, and you've never been scratched."

My irritation grew. "Did it ever occur to you big domes that I might just be a pretty good airplane driver? Isn't that explanation enough?"

"Of course you are, Pete," said Ericks, his voice apologetic.  "It's just that in that much flying you're bound to have some close ones, some near accidents.  Even commercial airline pilots may experience hundreds of 'near collisions' in the course of a few years' flying. But not you. The only times you've come close to piling in both times there’s been that green box. Do you see why we're interested in every fact about Pete Albers we can find?"

I saw. I'd known my luck was something special, but I guess I'd wanted someone else to say it, someone with some backing, like that hungry 2703 of Marty's. "O.K., Bill, I see your point. Any other answers?"

"A lot of negatives and one positive. The box is clearly not of American manufacture; no one has ever even dreamed of such a device. Obvious, perhaps, but we did a lot of checking just to make sure. Second, it is highly unlikely that the green box is of terrestrial manufacture. From scrapings, Mac deter-mined that the box is made of a very queer metal indeed, a kind of expanded steel with silicon instead of carbon locking the Fe into a molecule that just doesn't exist in nature, and is far beyond anything our technology knows of right now."

My mouth was really open on that one. "Not of terrestrial origin?" I parroted. "You mean it wasn't made here on Earth?  But how do you know? Maybe some little guy makes these things  for  kicks  in  his  basement,  some  undiscovered genius..."

"Ah believe it'd take a helluva lot more'n genius," chimed in Mac. "It'd take pressure, gangs of it. And it'd take heat, like on the order of fusion temperatures. Son, it just ain't in the state of the art, as we say."

I walked over to the window and looked up at the smoky blue of the October sky. "You all are trying to tell me that someone up there likes old lucky Pierre Albers and has gone to great expense and pressure and heat and stuff to save old lucky Pierre's neck on a couple of occasions, and maybe keep him out of trouble on a lot of others."

Nobody said anything. After a few seconds Marty began to nod her head up and down like a solemn child. I wanted to say something smart, or make a wisecrack. But I didn't have it in me. That "not of terrestrial origin" bit had me scared.

After a bit I said: "Bill, you said several negatives and a positive. What did the 2703 deliver on the positive side?"

"A name. Or rather two names. Corporal Frazer Lorenz Thompson and Mr. Edwin Michael Connors. Thompson was assigned as an Aviation Mechanic to the 389th Bomber Group at Benghazi in mid-July 1943. He only signed one payroll there, but there is a record that he was billeted at Benghazi for two weeks in July. Orders transferring him to Blackbushe in England were cut that same month, and he apparently shipped out without attracting any attention."

"July '43," I said. "The Ploesti raid . . ."

Ericks nodded and went on. "Edwin Michael Connors was shipped to Saigon in March 1964 as a civilian technician attached to your squadron. The day of your last flight, he announced to his supervisor that he was quitting, paying his own passage back to the States, and he moved out of his room at the BOQ that night There is an airline manifest that shows him on a flight from Saigon to Hong Kong on that date.  Nothing after that."

"So what's the connection?" I asked.

"According to the FBI and this is how we got on to it m the first place Couriers and Thompson are the same man, or at least they have the same fingerprints."

"Oh," I said.

"Furthermore, so far as we or the FBI can tell, neither man legally exists. The'-e is no record of Thompson, except .the paybook with his fingerprint. His enlistment was false, and apparently so were his orders to the 389th BG. Likewise, Connors left prints aplenty in his BOQ that's where we got 'em, but otherwise no record. His passport, contract with the Army everything must have been phony. There is no Ed-win Conners matching his description in the United States."

I got up for the beer Marty handed me and stared thought-fully at the foam for a minute or so. Then Marty said: "Mr.  Bricks, tell Colonel Albers about the ages. Maybe he'll have an idea."

"It's simple enough, Pete," said Ericks. "Unlike the case with Thompson, we've been able to talk to quite a few people who remember Connors from Saigon, people whose memories are still fresh. They all agree he couldn't have been more than thirty  at  the  outside.  Most  estimated  his  age  at  around twenty-five."

"B-but," I spluttered, "if he and Thompson are the same guy, Thompson would have to have been, uh, between five and ten years old at Benghazi!"

"Yeah," said Mac dryly, "and ah blieve I woulda remem-bered a ten year old corporal ifn he'd a worked for me then."

Marty's green eyes flashed at me and now it was her quiet smile which was part sympathy, part unconscious sexiness.  "We've an idea who our Chinaman is now. Colonel Albers, but he's a puzzle too, isn't he?"

Her question was rhetorical and I didn't bother to answer it.  I was  too  busy  absorbing the  suddenly  confirmed  notion that my lucky unusual, chicken-sandwich luck was no blind hiccup in the laws of probability, no impersonal cast of the die by one of the Fatal Sisters, but rather the conscious work of a specific individual: Corporal Thompson/Mr. Con-ners. Who was he? And, why me? Bill Ericks seemed to read my mind, to anticipate any unspoken questions.

"So you see why we had to bring you up from the War College, Pete," he said quietly. "The FBI has done everything they could to get a line on this man, and they've not been able to get much of anything. Every lead they've turned up on Conners/Thompson has petered out, and they've admitted confidentially that they don't have much hope of digging up anything more. Now the only opening left to us is you. We can't solve the Chinese puzzle; we can't find the Chinaman; all we can do now is to try to figure out why the Chinaman chose you, and apparently only you, to work his magic on."

"It may not get us anywhere," said Marty, "but you're our

last hope." The green eyes were at work again, and my high

dudgeon was losing altitude rapidly

"O.K' O.K.'" T said. "But I'm just n poor country boy who makes a living driving airplanes and frightening junior officers. How can I help?"

"By letting us get down on tape everything that has ever happened to you, everyone you've ever known," said Marty.

"We'll need tape-code descriptions of the minutest details of your life, examples of the writing of all your correspondents, your flight logs, conversations you can remember . . ."

"Now wait a minute . . ." I started. The invasion of privacy all this would entail was putting my ego back into orbit. Then

the green eyes attracted my attention and the thought crossed my mind that Marty would be the one who had to tape all this junk, which would mean days and days, if not weeks or months, of more green eyes. And then I thought of the Air Force Undersecretary's initials on my orders, and I thought again of "why me?" and I looked at the green eyes, and my resistance collapsed. My ego went into hibernation for the winter.

"When do we start," I said.

Marty looked questioningly at Ericks, who said: "What's wrong with now?"

So we started in. Not right then, but the next morning. I had to move in first, and send off for the box of personal papers the detritus of my adult life which had grown larger and larger with old canceled checks, letters from forgotten friends, memorabilia from a thousand weekends, copies of old orders, college graduation pictures, and a few scented love letters. I'm a lazy man, and it had always seemed easier to ship my collections of personal junk home periodi-cally for storage in my patents' capacious attic than to go to the trouble of sorting through it and purging the vast quantity of useless stuff. Marty was delighted when the boxes arrived, and she put two technicians to work on it right away.

In the meantime, life was not entirely unpleasant. No one at heart really minds talking about himself, and I was doing it ten hours a day. The suite in the Grover was spacious. Besides my living quarters there was a room full of tape-cutting equipment manned by a middle-aged woman named Madge Who sat from 8:30 in the morning until 5:00 in the evening reducing Marty's handwritten notes to various combinations of holes on paper tapes. Then there was the room in which the technicians worked over the written remains of Pete Albers, sorting and analyzing and occasionally chuckling at some choice bit. It was a real temptation some evenings to flip a lighted cigarette into their room.

There was still another room in which I was subjected to a series of interviews sometimes with drugs, most of the time without conducted by a depth-psychologist with heavy black eyebrows growing straight across his forehead. He was a nice enough guy Dr. Nagy but I didn't care much for his line of questioning. Even his most innocent questions left me feeling vaguely guilty, as if I were somehow at fault for having benefited from the magic of our mysterious Chinaman.  But then when he had pumped me dry and I really felt that way some evenings Madge put it all down on tape and I felt better. The little holes punched through the paper seemed to make all that information, some of it deeply personal, imper-sonal again.

And as the weeks rolled by my prediction to myself about the green eyes came true. Marty began to stay after the others had left, and we got to going out to dinner together. At first I think she felt a little sorry for me, at the opportunity I had been forced to miss, at the ordeal of confession I had to go through. Then it was something else. One cold night just before Christmas she left early, but returned with a bird and a bottle, the second of which we drank and the first she cooked to a golden brown. I won't go into the details of that evening, but about a month later she stopped going away at all in the evening, and late in February 1965 we drove to West Virginia and were married by a sleepy Justice of the Peace in Moorefield, just across the Virginia border.

When we got back, by way of Mumford Junction and Cleveland where Marty's mother lived Ericks was hopping mad, saying things to Marty about "lack of objectivity" and "the  impersonality  of  scientific  endeavor,"  but  she  just grinned at him and held my hand a bit tighter, and after he cooled down he offered his congratulations, which weren't at all necessary because we both knew just how lucky we were.

Even operating at high speed, it takes a computer a while to digest so much varied and unconnected information, but old 2703 finally came through. There was a letter from an obscure insurance agency signed in the same handwriting identified as that of "Thompson" in his 1943 paybook. The signature was that of one "Atchison," but the similarity in script  was  unmistakable,  even  to  me.  And  thus  we  had another name for our Chinaman. The letter he had signed was an offer of a twenty-five thousand dollar life insurance policy at a ridiculously low rate, and a canceled check dated in April 1950 showed I had sent him one hundred nineteen dollars and fifty cents for five years' premiums. I was flying in the Air National Guard then and insurance had been hard target. And while I didn't really need any-no wife and kids-I thought it might be a good idea to leave a little bundle for Morn and Dad if one of those rusty P-51s we were flying then decided it had had the course. There had been renewals in '55 and '60 followed by letters bearing the same signature and copies of ornate policies issued by one of the major underwriters and endorsed by the same "H. L. Atchison."

And more than just another name for our Chinaman, we had an address. All correspondence from Atchison had been mailed from Houston, and although I couldn't recall even under Dr. Nagy's most extreme ministrations to what ad-dress I had written my renewals, enclosing of course the stub of the bill with the address, an FBI check of Houston post offices turned up a box in a branch just off Jensen Road which had been rented under the name H. L. Atchison since 1950.  After several days of monumental work, the Bureau located an affable real-estate agent who readily admitted making the quarterly payments for the post office box and explained that Atchison had long paid him a handsome retainer for looking after his sparse affairs in Houston and seeing to the rent payments for the modest apartment he had procured for Atchison there. I still have a copy of the Bureau report because I'm still lazy about sorting through my papers and throwing things away:

"SUBJECT (Bureau jargon for the real estate man) asserted that his files reflect the information that T-27 (more FBI jargon for Atchison) first came to him in February 1950 in order to procure a domicile. An apart-ment satisfactory to T-27 was procured in the Bennington Arms Apartments, 3345 Alamo Road, Houston 6, Texas, and T-27 paid for extensive alterations, explain-ing to SUBJECT that he desired to redecorate the premises as a shrine to his deceased spouse and had no plans or intentions of living in or otherwise occupying the premises except during occasional visits to Houston, Texas.

"SUBJECT further asserted that T-27 informed him that he was an oil geologist and since he would often be in areas where contact by mail would not be possible he preferred that SUBJECT handle all his affairs in Houston, Texas, on a five-year basis.

"SUBJECTS deposition (attached) describes his single visit to the above-mentioned premises in the Bennington Arms Apartments, 3345 Alamo Road, Houston 6, Texas, which occurred in April 1950. He avers that his impression of the interior of these premises,  while striking him as eccentric, seemed to correspond to the avowed intentions of his client to convert the premises into  a  religious  shrine  in  memory  of  the  deceased spouse."

"It's obvious," said Ericks, when we had all read the FBI report, "that Thompson/Conners/Atchison -oh hell, let's call him the 'Chinaman- pulled into Houston and established an address in 1950 with the idea of returning only often enough to handle his insurance business with you, Pete."

"But why?" I asked. "Surely not just to bilk me out of one hundred nineteen dollars and fifty cents every five years."

"And why this funny business with a dead wife?" said Marty. "It's certainly touching, a tribute like that, but some-how it seems more than just eccentric." She cast a speculative green eye at me. "I can't imagine you doing anything so sweet, Peter."

"Spouse, if you decease, I have every plan and intention of erecting a shrine to you constructed of heart-shaped memory drums and magnetic tape in the premises located at 2762 Connecticut Avenue N. W., Washington 5, D. C."

"It must be sheer cover," said Ericks, ignoring the horse-play. "Just an excuse for keeping up an uninhabited apart-ment without arousing suspicion. And it seems to have worked." Ericks pulled his plump bulk up from the couch and walked to the window. "As to why, Pete, suppose we go to Houston and find out."

Our plane was met in Houston by the chief of the local FBI Field Office, a gray little man named Pollock who looked a great deal more like a shoe salesman than an FBI man. He drove us to the address on Alamo Drive, where we were met by a plainclothes cop from the Houston Detective Bureau armed with a search warrant and an immense bundle of keys and lock picks. It was only a moment before he had us out of the glare of a Texas March and into the dry mustiness of the long unoccupied apartment.

The description in the real estate man's deposition had been accurate. "The living room was hung about with heavy dark drapes. Except for a broad black buffet and two small chairs in one comer of the room, there was no furniture, but the floor was covered with thick, dark carpeting. Atop the buffet was the faded photograph of a handsome young woman in her twenties, a nondescript woman, beautiful in an impersonal sort of way, the kind of face that smiles up at you from a thousand magazine covers and chewing-gum advertisements.  Tall candles stood on either side of the photograph, and the wall behind the buffet was almost covered with a vast clutter of religious ornaments of one sort or another, as if Atchison had gone to one of those shops where they sell plaster crucifixes and cheap reproductions of The Last Supper and bought one of everything.

Leading off to the right from this dismal room, a corridor ran first past a small kitchen, dust covered, a rusty streak in the sink, and then past a minuscule bathroom to the stoutly locked door leading to a single bedroom. The detective with the keys and lock picks didn't have so much luck with this one, and he finally resorted to two blasts from his service revolver, a most effective key indeed.

But there was no bed there, and the real estate agent had quite obviously never penetrated that far. A broad bench ran down one side of the room and supported a tangle of electrical wiring and strange looking devices and instruments whose purpose I couldn't even guess. Across the end of the room, crammed into the narrow space, were a precision lathe, a shaper, a drill press, and a small but efficient arc furnace.  Thick power cables terminated in a heavy-duty fuse panel mounted on the wall behind the machine tools.

Ericks whistled at the sight. "Mac ought to see this. I bet this is where the green boxes were made."

"Not the first one," I said. "Atchison hasn't had this place that long."

"Yes, of course. He must have had another place before this one. I'll get the Bureau on it."

We went back into the somber shrine. Pollock was method-ically sorting through the contents of the black buffet. He handed a fat billfold to Ericks. "Your friend Atchison is pretty careless with his money, whatever else he is. There's something over twenty thousand dollars here." He flipped the card case open. "And look, he's left his driver's license. Social Security card, draft card, and so forth behind him."

I peered over Bricks' pudgy shoulder at the cards. Even to my untrained eyes there could be no doubt: the signatures ' were familiar and we had definitely found our Chinaman.  Ericks stared at the cards, turning the card case over and over in his hand. "I'll bet they're phony," he said finally. Pollock nodded wordlessly, took the proffered case from Ericks and slipped it into his coat pocket. "We'll check," he said.

There was nothing more to be learned. Ericks left instruc-tions with Pollock to keep the apartment under twenty-four hour watch, and we headed back for the airport. On the way Ericks stopped to put in a call to Mac in California, to tell him of our discovery. But Mac was off somewhere in the Pacific Missile Impact Range, and he was not to be reached.  But with the apartment under tight surveillance there didn't appear to be any hurry. It could wait, we thought.

Back in Washington, we spent a couple of days, chewing over bits of evidence, trying to put together a cohesive picture of the Chinaman and his motives. But none of it made any sense. We knew who he was and where he had lived from time to time over the past fifteen years, but we still had no answers to any major parts of the mystery. We still didn't know how he had done what he had done. Or why. Or why to me.

And I was getting tired of the whole business. I've always been impatient with puzzles and games like chess. I haven't got the patience for it. And I was bored with the inactivity of sitting around Washington waiting for someone else to sort out this particular can of worms. My curiosity itch still needed scratching, but I could live with it, and I was anxious to get back to the War College, to pull Marty away from her work and spend a week or two with her in the little shack I had down at Cape Hatteras where there would be no black-shrouded apartments, no stilted FBI reports, no mysteries except the delightful one of how it was a lanky, balding, forty-two-year-old airplane driver, long past thoughts of mar-riage, could have been so fortunate as to latch on to someone like Marty.

But that was not to he for a while. The FBI had done some more digging and had come up with the fact that the Houston Power and Light Company had recorded sudden increases in power consumption on the transformer leg servicing the Bennington Arms Apartments between the fourth and seventh of April in 1950, 1955, and 1960. In those years I had received my billings from Atchison sometime around the end of April, the time we had figured for a concentrated stakeout if we were to get a glimpse of our Chinaman. Now, however, it looked  like  a  real  good  bet  that he'd  be  showing up  in Houston considerably earlier, sometime in the next week, and a small army of surveillants were ordered into position around the Bennington Arms. On the off-chance that I might be able to spot Atchison either from my Libyan days or from the more recent period in Vietnam the Bureau asked that I fly down to join in the watch.

So Bricks and I flew down to Houston again on the second of April. Marty wanted to come along, but she was now pregnant two months with Ethan, and felt too lousy to make the trip. Since it was apparent we might have a long wait, and since Atchison could approach the apartment house from any of four directions east or west on Alamo, or north or south on Richards it was decided that I should occupy the apart-ment itself. We moved a cot into the crowded machine shop 1 couldn't bring myself to sleep in that grisly shrine of a bedroom and I tried to make myself comfortable. Bricks, comfort-loving slob that he is, registered in the Sam Houston, and from the luxury of his room kept in touch with me and the ten or fifteen thousand cops, FBI agents, and boy scouts who seemed to be standing silently around on the street beneath my window. One agent was even disguised as an ice-cream vendor, which was all right during the day, al-though he had to keep shaking his head at disappointed kids, but at night he presented a somewhat implausible figure.

I sat around for two days the third and fourth of April reading paperbacks, smoking too many cigarettes, and missing Marty. Now and again my transceiver would crackle a warning, and I would peer carefully out the front windows at some bird who was roughly the same height, build and age we presumed our Chinaman to be. I recognized no one, and none turned into the Bennington Arms and headed for the second floor apartment where I waited. The last of these came a little after midnight on the fourth. I had been long asleep when the buzz and crackle of the transceiver awakened me from dreams of Hatteras. I responded and stumbled down the hall to peer through the shrouded front windows as I had been bid. But the young man who was idling by was no one I recognized and he idled with undiminished slouch on past the building entrance and around the corner on Richards. I yawned mightily and headed on bare feet back toward the bedroom. There was a faint, keening whine behind me and the narrow corridor down which I was padding sleepily was suddenly illuminated with an eerie greenish glow. I came full awake instantly one of the tricks you learn from dozing on autopilot when a trouble light comes on and turned back toward the living room to see the damndest thing I have ever seen.

There in the center of that macabre shrine was a bright mass of shimmering light, coalescing into .solidity as I watched, and dimming steadily as it coalesced. It was roughly egg-shaped, a couple of yards long and maybe four feet through the middle, like an old model Link trainer without the silly little tail empennage they used to stick on them. But I wasn't thinking of Link trainers. All I could think of was Ericks' theory that the green box was of extraterrestrial origin, and I was scared to death. The quintessence of all the old B movies I'd seen in a hundred ready-rooms, movies with Hollywood electronics, flashes of green lightning, and little green men with big green death-rays went whipping through my mind. Boy, was I scared.

But I didn't run to the transceiver, or jump out the window.  My curiosity was itching at maximum ferocity, and despite my better instincts, I edged gingerly into the room and flicked on the overhead lights to counter the gloom that had supplanted the dying fluorescence of the egg. I stood there for maybe thirty seconds, my knees trembling, all kinds of wild thoughts going through my head. I remember thinking, finally, that I might see things more clearly with a cigarette, and I was about to head for the bedroom to get one when a hatchway in the top of the egg snapped inward and the head and shoulders of a dark young man appeared. He had braced both hands on the side of the hatch to hoist himself the rest of the way out before he noticed me. He made a swift motion as if to duck back inside and then caught himself, gave a visible  shrug,  rose  again,  and  with  a  single  well-muscled movement, pushed himself out of the egg and dropped lightly to the floor He was naked as n jaybird.

"Hello!" he said, peering intently at me from under heavy dark brows.

I said "Hi."

"Sorry I beed so . . . so" he indicated his nudity- with a wave of the hand. "The probe wouldn't transmit anything but living protoplasm."

"That's all right," I said. "I used to swim at the YMCA." He looked mystified at this. I didn't blame him; the conversation was getting pretty inane considering the circum-stances. The funny thing was, I recognized him right away.  I thought I could remember him from the R & M shack at Benghazi; I was sure I'd had a drink with him once in the Officers' Club in Saigon.

He fumbled in a closet for clothing and I headed for the bedroom and my cigarettes. When I got back I offered him one and lit it for him as he buttoned his shirt. My knees were weak and I sat down in one of the two chairs. When I get good and scared, my first reaction is always a sort of light-headed jokiness. I get flippant and want to crack jokes, I guess to cover up any signs of fear I might show. Then when the initial shock is over I get weak in the knees.  I took a nervous puff on my cigarette. "You, Atchison?" I asked.

"Yo, in a manner of speaking. My real name is Timmons.

Ethan Timmons."                      -

I lit a new cigarette from the butt of the old one. "You the guy who saved my bacon at Ploesti and in the chopper last year?"

"Yo. I be the guy." He pronounced "guy" almost like "gooey." I couldn't place the accent. "I haved to protect the insurance company. Colonel Albers." He grinned at this, his eyes wrinkling in good humor, his young face taking on a mischievous, we-share-a-secret look.  "Why?" I asked. "Will you tell me?" I made a wide gesture with my cigarette, sweeping in the egg, the apartment, and my blue pajama'd self.

"Yo, I will tell you. It willn't make any difference. But first  you tell me how you finded me."

I told him. About the boxes and Mac, about the FBI work, about Bricks' theory that the boxes were of extraterrestrial origin. I even told him about Mac's plans to inspect the machine shop in the bedroom, and that stopped him for a minute before he grinned and said something about fixing that.

When I was done he bummed another cigarette from me and lit it. "Yo. You telled me your story, now I will tell you mine." Then more to himself than to me, "It willn't make any difference. I will have to rerun it all from Saigon on." He rolled his eyes up toward the ceiling, obviously searching for a starting point.  He was a very young man and clearly enjoying his role as a revealer of the astonishing.

After a bit he leaned forward in his chair and said: "You, Colonel Albers, be a latent Espy."

"How about that," I said. "Here all this time I thought I was an Episcopalian."

He looked mystified again but went on with his explana-tion. He was a volatile young man, and from time to time he rose from his chair, borrowed another cigarette, and paced up and down the black carpet alongside the egg, punctuating Ms words with quick thrusts of the lighted cigarette. He spoke with broad vowels and clipped consonants, somewhat like a Yorkshire man I had served with in Korea. And he had trouble with verbs. "Thought" was "thinked," "ran" was "runned," and so forth.

His story was complicated and I'm not sure even now how much of it I have straight. The essence: Timmons was is will be (the tenses get confusing) a time traveler. "Prober" is the word he used. His home time is about a hundred and fifty years from now, 2107 to be precise, and he is one of a group of highly trained men who poke around in the past to do one chore or another, mostly to retrieve objets d'art paintings, books, curios of one kind or another which for one reason or another have not survived down to the probers' own time.

He spoke at some length of something he called "temporal momentum," and while I didn't begin to grasp all his explana-tion, I gather it involves the problem of just how much the past can be altered without significantly affecting the future.  As well as I could get it, there was a dividing line, an uncertain and dangerous boundary beyond which the probers dared not pass: little things they did, things which remained unknown or which made no real impact on the public consciousness in the time in question, were swallowed up in the momentum of events and had no significant effect on the future. On the other hand the principle of "for want of a nail the shoe was lost, for want of a shoe..." could apply disastrously, and he made his point by asking me to speculate on the results if he were to journey to 1910 Vienna and offer gainful employment to frustrated painter Adolf Hitler. "It wili'd be, for me and my time, a kind of suicide," he said. "I might still exist, yo. But my times wili'd be very different indeed, and I willdn't exist as me."

He went on to explain about Espys and Pete Albers' luck.  In 2106 there was will be a major military threat against Earth posed by a rapacious horde of beings from without the solar system, the first sentient life detected by man outside his own system. All the resources of Earth and her three strug-gling planetary colonies had been mobilized to stand off the would-be invaders. At immense cost in men and materiel, the invaders' thrust had been parried, but the invaders themselves lay undamaged just outside the maximum range of Terran weapons systems, and their constant thrusts and probes were quickly exhausting the Earth.

Then, explained Timmons, had come the discovery of Corticon, which if I understood what he was talking about is some sort of a gizmo for stimulating and tremendously amplifying some sort of psychic force. At first the Corticon was employed simply as a superior guidance system in conjunction with conventional weapons equipped with biological on-board computers which, I gather, are some sort of doctored-up animal brains but then they had discovered more or less by accident that a Corticon beam which swept over an invader ship sometimes stimulated it either to mindless apathy or spectacular self-destruction.

But there was a catch in all this; they had been able to turn up only something over two hundred telekinetic adepts that was Timmons' phrase in the entire population, and they were simply not enough to give the invaders a decisive blow.

However, after a good deal of genealogical research, they had traced a fair number of these adepts although by no means all-to the offspring of one Harold Gruber Schindhorst, himself not traceable further back than 1916 when he started up in the grocery business in Indianapolis. Schindhorst's sister, Ellen, married Robert Ethan Albers of Mumford Junclion,   Indiana,   and  it  seemed  more  than  just  possible   that  she had shared her brother's latent Espy potentialities. But the Albers' only child, old lucky Pierre Pete Albers, had died in an airplane crash at Strumica, Yugoslavia, on August I, 1943, on his return from the Great Ploesti raid of that date. With him, according to Timmons, died some six generations of potential Espys, the genes he might have transmitted to two or three hundred telekinetic adepts depending upon luck and fecundity scattered broadly on the fallow soil of Mace-donia.

It's  an  interesting  experience  to  hear  your  own  death described in such matter-of-fact, history-book style. But I don't recommend it. It is unsettling. Still, a lot of pieces began to fall into place, and there was an answer to the question:

"But why Pete Albers? Why me?" I was sore at first at the thought of all the meddling in my affairs that had gone on.  And then I was grateful. I'm glad I didn't die in the Ploesti raid. I wished I could haul out my chromosomes and give them a loving pat. Forty-six good luck pieces, they were.

"So you see. Colonel Albers, I goed back through time to 1943, set up shop in London, and when I had made the power source I goed on to Libya and installed it in your aircraft.  Then I corned back to 1950, getted this dwelling as a base, and corned on up to 1980, stopping off every five years to mail you a bill for your insurance. Back I goed again to 1950 about three weeks after I mailed the first bill, and I corned up again every five years and looked for the answers. No one hundred nineteen dollars and fifty, no Peter Albers, and I had to go all the way out to Mumford Junction, find out what happened, where, when and how you'd been killed. Then I had to do something about it. Rupture a hydraulic line, get the brakes repaired on your old MG, or install another power source. Each time, then, I corned up to the next five-year check to see if a letter from you wili'd indicate that the steps I had tooked had beed effective." He sighed deeply. "You've beed a problem. Colonel."

"Sorry," I said. "I'll try to be more careful in the future."

"No. It been't that." There was a faint blush high on his

young forehead. "I don't want to get personal. Colonel, but I have beed working on your case for almost four months now, and it beed just wasted effort if you doon't ... ah" He stopped in embarrassment and then tried a different tack.

"Colonel, I keep waiting for you to change the beneficiary of your insurance policy from your parents to a wife." Then, impatiently, "I can keep you alive. Colonel, but I can't make you marry, and we need those genes!"

'Take 'cm," I said. "They're yours." I was overcome with reaction to the strange evening. And to the humor of my position. I began to chuckle uncontrollably.

Timmons, of course, didn't see the humor. "Colonel, this beed deadly serious to me. While I will erase any trace of this evening's conversation by going back to Saigon, tell me now if we be wasting our hopes on you." He leaned forward, the flush on his forehead spreading downward to his cheeks. "Tell me, Colonel, be you a homosexual?"

At this question, which I would normally answer with a dose of knuckles, I could contain myself no longer and laughed uncontrollably. "Timmons," I chortled, "relax. I was married almost three months ago and my wife is pregnant."

A broad grin replaced the blush of embarrassment and anger on the young man's face. "Wonderful, Colonel. Congrat-ulations! Wonderful! There be nothing left, then, but to get back to Saigon and erase this unfortunate business. I wish you long life, sir, and"his voice dropping into sincerity"best wishes to you in your marriage."

"Back to Saigon?" I said. "Erase what business?"

"No cause for alarm. Colonel. It be the law of temporal momentum. With all you know now, and all that your friends Bricks and Mcdougal know, or soon willwell, I can't take the chance. If a wide circle of people beed to learn the existence of time-probing, that alone wili'd produce significant change. And then there beed all that your friend Mcdougal can'd get out of the shop back there." He nodded toward the bedroom.

"I'll never tell," I said. "And I like the things the way they are."

Timmons started to take his clothes off, hanging each piece carefully back in the closet for use five years hence. "I wili'd like to take your word for it," he said, "but I can't take the chance." He smiled brightly at me from the far side of the egg. "Anyway, it willn't hurt a bit. We'll just wipe out the last . . . let me see . . . eleven months. I'll find a better way to get you out of that helicopter over the Mekong, and you, of course, will never know the difference."

"But wait a minute," I said. "I'll keep quiet and Bricks and Mac will shut up, too. Mac hasn't made any headway with the green box, and Bricks has no proof for his theories. Anyway, they're the wrong theories. He thinks you're some man from Mars."

"Can't take the chance," said Timmons stubbornly. "Try to understand, Colonel. I have to do it. And doon't worry, you'll never know."

Maybe he was right, I guess he was. I would never know, and what you don't know never hurts you. But maybe that was the trouble. All the Indiana hick stubbornness welled up in me. I liked things the way they were. Sure, I was grateful that my bacon had been saved a number of times in the past how often I still have no ideabut I do like to think I'm the master of my own fate and the captain of my own soul, and I couldn't bear the idea of this young squirt zipping around time, altering things that had already happened to me, "erasing" everything that had happened in the last eleven months.

And then it hit me. Martha! My Lord I wouldn't meet Martha!

Timmons was once again nude and he had both legs in the egg, about to lower himself in. "Wait! Timmons," I shouted.  "You've forgotten something!"

He paused. "What?"

"My wife! I met my wife on the green box project! You cancel out the last eleven months and you cancel out my marriage!"

His face whitened and he froze in the hatchway. You could almost hear the wheel spinning in his head, and I knew I had him. In a mixture of panic and exultation, I drove the lance deeper. "Genes! Timmons, Genes! No wife, no genes! At least none that'll do you any good. Come on back out, Timmons!  I'm forty-two, Timmons, and a man forty-two doesn't have many opportunities to marry!"

Timmons pulled himself up and sat on the egg, his legs dangling into the open hatch. "Yo," he said. And then he was silent for a time, calculating. I was beginning to estimate my chances for clobbering him when he swung down to the carpet and headed for the bedroom. He had twenty pounds and the best part of twenty years on me, and I decided my chances were slim. Instead I followed him down the hall.

Over his shoulder he asked: "When do you expect your friend Mcdougal?"

"Sometime in the next couple of days. Not before day after tomorrow."

He did something to one of the thick cables feeding the apparatus on the long bench. "What time be it now?" he asked, his hands very busy.

I looked at my watch. "Four twenty-seven."

He finished whatever he was doing and I trailed him ba~fc.:

into the living room. "You'd better be out of that roofli," he said, hoisting himself back into the egg, "by twelve twenty-sev-en tomorrow. It willn't be very violent, but there might be some flying glass." With just his head and shoulders protrud-ing from the egg, he turned for a last look at me. "Yo, Colonel Albers. It be a stand-off, and we'll give it a try. I will find a new place for my shop, and your friend Mcdougal will get nowhere with the green box without this shop." He lowered himself a bit further. "Doon't forget one thing, Colonel Albers."

"Yo?" I said politely.

"Doon't forget to forget all this. I'll be around from time to time to check up."

"I'll keep quiet." I said. "But don't you forget."

"What?" he said, his voice muffled by the closing hatch.  "Genes! Timmons, Genes!" I shouted. And then there was the green phosphorescence and the whine, and nothing at all.  I went back to bed.

At seven-thirty, the transceiver buzzed and crackled and I got up to peek out at a young, dark-haired meter-reader trying to buy a popsicle from the FBI man in the Good Humor truck.

And so, boys, you now know why I've left you this rather long account of some matters that occurred before you were born. As I write this I have no idea how much longer I will be around. I will be careful, though, and not depend very much on my luck. The fact that you three are healthy, lively youngsters1 hear you, Timmy, shouting for that last glass of water that is always the youngest's prerogativewould sug-gest to me that Timmons is not going to be overly concerned about my welfare from now on. However, he is going to be concerned about yours. And could any father ask more?

..   Maybe this will reach you when you, too, are middle-aged and graying. I hope so. Maybe some lawyeror your mother will hand it to each of you when you reach twenty-one.

However it happens, keep the contents to yourselves. No one would believe the story anyway. But if you want to prove it to yourselves, get a couple of small pith balls, put them on a smooth surface, concentrate as hard as you can, and will them to move. It's the best proof I can offer, but there is something else. Look back in my household files to this month, April Dear Mr. Atchison; Inclosed please find my check for $119.50 for another five years premium.

I don't know why I bother. After all, who needs insur-ance?

Peter L. Albers, Brig. USAP.


